RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 09, 2015, 12:05 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 91886-4

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division 2, No. 44404-6-II

WOODS VIEW II, LLC,

Petitioner,

٧.

KITSAP COUNTY,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BERRY & BECKETT, PLLP Guy W. Beckett, WSBA #14939 1708 Bellevue Ave. Seattle, WA 98122 Tel: 206.441.5444

Attorneys for Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Woods View II, LLC ("WVII"), requests this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. DECISION BELOW

The Court of Appeals decision was filed on April 14, 2015. An Order Publishing Decision was entered on June 9, 2015. The decision below is reported at ___ Wn. App. __, __ P.3d __, 2015 WL 3608691 (2015), and a copy is attached as Appendix A. The Court of Appeals decision affirmed a Pierce County Superior Court order, granting Kitsap County's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissing WVII's Complaint.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Court of Appeals decision that WVII does not have a viable intentional interference claim against Kitsap County for its nineteen-month delay in approving WVII's development permit application conflicts with the decisions in *Pleas v. City of Seattle*, 112 Wn.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989), and *Westmark Dev. Corp. v. City of Burien*, 140 Wn. App. 540, 166 P.3d 813 (2007), where similar delays were held to be intentional interferences with the developer's rights.
- 2. Whether Kitsap County's effort to prevent WVII's development through means outside of its normal land use procedures and processes violated the "vested rights doctrine," and therefore was an "improper purpose" supporting WVII's intentional interference claim.
- 3. Whether WVII's showing that Kitsap County attempted to prevent WVII's development at least in part for political considerations constitutes an "improper purpose" supporting WVII's intentional interference claim.

- 4. Whether WVII's proof that Kitsap County arbitrarily delayed its approval of WVII's development permit, and violated standards applicable to municipal land regulators, showed that the County employed "improper means" to achieve the County's goal of preventing the development.
- 5. Whether a municipality is authorized to attempt to prevent, through means outside of the municipality's land use procedures, a real property development that complies with all municipality land use requirements.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts giving rise to lawsuit.

WVII's proposed "Woods View" development was comprised of several contiguous 40' x 100' lots and additional property, totaling 19.76 acres. CP 29, 240. There was no public sewer available, and the lots were not large enough to support individual septic systems. CP 240-41.

Regulations authorized the Department of Health ("DOH") to permit waste treatment for residential developments to occur by a "Large Onsite Sewer System" ("LOSS"). CP 241. A LOSS does not require a single septic system for each residence, but utilizes a shared waste treatment system and drainfield. *Id.* WVII planned to use a LOSS to serve 78 single-family homes in the development. *Id.*

A Site Development Activity Permit ("SDAP") was the only permit WVII needed from the County for the development. CP 597. WVII filed its SDAP application on April 14, 2006; the application was deemed "complete" by the County on May 5, 2006, CP 306-308. Also in April

2006, WVII submitted a request for a SEPA determination of non-significance. CP 597. A County Ordinance required the County to make a decision on the SDAP application, and to issue a SEPA determination, within 78 days after the applications were deemed "complete." CP 310-311. Once the SDAP issued, 78 lots could be constructed and sold for single-family residences. CP 606.

The County repeatedly maintained that it had no authority or jurisdiction to approve or disapprove the LOSS system proposed for the project, and that the sole authority for making that decision rested with DOH. CP 316, 322, 324, 326, 328, 396, 401, 402, 408.

DOH regulations provided three management methods for a LOSS:

(1) owned or maintained by a public entity; (2) the property served by the LOSS could be held by one owner and the LOSS operated by a private operator; and (3) operated by a private operator, with operation guaranteed by a third-party public entity. WAC 246-272B-08100(2)(a)(vi)(A)(I), (II) (repealed, effective July 1, 2011); CP 1580-1583. The first and the third methods permitted individual sales of lots in the property served by the LOSS, while the second didn't. *Id*.

Karcher Creek Sewer District ("KCSD"), a municipality, contracted with WVII to provide operation and maintenance for the LOSS, which enabled the DOH to approve the LOSS as owned or maintained by a

public entity. CP 600, 834-835. When the County learned of the agreement, it pressured KCSD to back out. *Id.* The County told KCSD it did not have authority to own or operate the LOSS; although KCSD did not agree, it bowed to the County's pressure and backed out of the agreement with WVII. *Id.*

This left WVII without a municipal operator for the LOSS. CP 600.

To keep the project moving, WVII agreed to a Single-Owner Management System for the LOSS, while it sought another public entity for LOSS maintenance or as a guarantor for a private operator. *Id.*

The proposed development complied with all applicable County development ordinances and regulations, and the County knew that it had to approve the development. CP 330-333, 354, 372-373, 375-376, 391, 393, 433, 436-437, 443. But the County did not want the development to occur. CP 441, 443, 1274-1273. The County's opposition to the project was based, at least in part, on political considerations. CP 980-981, 1265-1266. To one constituent, a County Commissioner wrote, "[T]he County staff and elected officials believe that they have actively worked to find ways within the law to deny the project." CP 436-437.

The County issued an MDNS on January 4, 2007. CP 313-314. But the County did not approve WVII's SDAP until December 10, 2007, over nineteen months after the application was "complete." CP 316-317.

During part of this period, the County instructed its Department of Community Development ("DCD") not to process the application. CP 491, 598. When the SDAP was finally approved, the County placed no conditions on SDAP approval concerning the LOSS, except that it had to be approved by DOH. *Id.*

One of the requirements for DOH LOSS approval was proof that the LOSS complied with local land use standards. WAC 246-272B-08001(2)(a)(ii) (repealed, effective July 1, 2011). The County devised another plan to prevent the development: an attorney in the County Prosecuting Attorney's office, Shelley Kneip, suggested that the County should tell DOH that the development did not comply with applicable land use standards, so the "[S]tate would have to deny" the LOSS permit application. CP 433.

The County repeatedly communicated to DOH that the project didn't comply with the County's Comprehensive Plan or the Growth Management Act ("GMA"), even though it did, and the County knew it did. *See, e.g.*, CP 331-332, 335-336, 340-341, 343-344, 350-351, 417, 428-430. WVII spent significant funds and effort to meet the County's requirements for SDAP approval. CP 596-606. WVII did not know the County was trying to prevent the project through DOH. CP 601, 604.

The County's communications and interference with DOH delayed

DOH's consideration and approval of the LOSS permit application. CP 1626, 1631. They took DOH time that could have been used to work on technical issues concerning the LOSS. CP 1631. Ultimately, when the County learned that DOH finally intended to issue the LOSS permit, it prevailed on DOH to issue the permit only under the single-owner method, thereby preventing WVII from selling individual lots in the project. CP 343, 346-347, 601, 1626-1627.

Neighbors appealed the County's issuance of the MDNS and the SDAP approval. CP 354-386. The Hearing Examiner and the Kitsap County Superior Court both affirmed issuance of the MDNS and SDAP. CP 384-385, 391, 393. The Superior Court's decision, in May 2009, provided that the County's Zoning Ordinance and Comprehensive Plan allowed the proposed development. CP 391-393.

By the time the Superior Court affirmed the issuance of the MDNS and SDAP, development and construction financing had tightened. CP 603. However, the Legacy Group ("Legacy"), a development lender, expressed interest in financing the development. *Id.* But Legacy required the LOSS Management Plan to be changed so that individual lots and homes could be sold. CP 125, 603-604. Without financing from Legacy, WVII's project would fail. CP 605.

Because KCSD would not operate the LOSS due to the County's

pressure, the only way WVII could sell individual lots in the development was to have a private operator manage the LOSS, with a public entity guaranteeing performance. WAC 246-272B-08100(2)(a)(vi)(A)(I), (II) (repealed, effective July 1, 2011). By summer of 2009, WVII located a new public entity to serve as guarantor for a private LOSS operator and applied to DOH for a LOSS management change, to permit it to be operated privately with a third-party public entity guarantor. CP 745-746, 759. When WVII applied for the change, Richard Benson, the DOH engineer considering the request, believed that approval of the request was "doable." CP 1643-1646.

In September 2009, Mr. Benson told Legacy he did not see any legal impediments to WVII's request for LOSS management change, and that he believed the request could be processed and approved within one to two months. CP 127, 1838. In a September 2009 conversation with Dave Walden, a Kitsap County realtor assisting WVII, Mr. Benson said that approval of the management change would take about a week or two unless the County opposed it; if the County opposed it, approval would take six months to a year. CP 1846-1847, 1848-1852.

Before September 3, 2009, WVII submitted a letter of intent to DOH signed by Kittitas Sewer District No. 8 to become the guarantor for the LOSS operator. CP 1702-1703. By November 6, 2009, WVII submitted

everything DOH requested for the management change. CP 1707.

WVII again had to show that the proposed method of operation complied with the County Comprehensive Plan and local land use and development regulations. CP 1651; *see also* WAC 246-272B-08001(2)(a)(ii) (repealed, effective July 1, 2011). Despite the Hearing Examiner's and Superior Court's rulings that the proposed development complied with the GMA and the County Comprehensive Plan and ordinances, and despite the fact that the County placed no restrictions on WVII's SDAP related to the LOSS, when the County learned of the 2009 request for management change, it again informed DOH that the proposed development did not comply with local land use requirements. CP 417, CP 421-426, 428-429.

The County's objections complicated and lengthened DOH's review process for the requested management change, and DOH's consideration of WVII's request was closely scrutinized, to an unusual degree. CP 1676-1677, 1683-1683, 1694, 1704, 1728, 1784-1785, 1787-1790, 1811-1813, 1815-1817, 1819, 1831, 1838-1841. Without DOH approval of the LOSS management change, Legacy would not make the loan WVII needed to pay for development expenses, and without the financing from Legacy, WVII was unable to continue to fund the project. CP 603-05.

DOH finally approved the requested LOSS management change in

late August 2010, more than a year after WVII had requested it. CP 1492. By then, however, WVII was in foreclosure, its principal was in Chapter 7 bankruptcy, and it was too late: the underlying lender completed its foreclosure of the property and title transferred to the lender, in October 2010. CP 605.

B. Trial court's dismissal of WVII's claims.

WVII filed its lawsuit against the County in October 2009. CP 16. The action was removed to federal court, which eventually dismissed WVII's federal claims, without prejudice to its state law claims. CP 17, 1455-1471. WVII then refiled its action against the County in July 2011, asserting state law claims against the County for (1) tortious interference with contract and/or business expectancies, (2) negligence, (3) taking under the Washington State Constitution, and (4) declaratory and injunctive relief. CP 1-20.

The County moved for summary judgment, requesting dismissal of all of WVII's claims. CP 1369-1389. Judge Susan Serko of the Pierce County Superior Court granted the County's motion and dismissed all of WVII's claims. CP 1982-1983. Judge Serko provided no explanation for her ruling. *Id*.

C. Court of Appeals decision.

WVII appealed the trial court's order dismissing its claims. CP 1995-

2001. On April 14, 2015, the Court of Appeals filed its opinion and affirmed the trial court. *See* Appendix A. The opinion, as modified, was ordered published on June 9, 2015. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals ruled that WVII had timely commenced the lawsuit, id. at 16; that WVII's principal, Darlene Piper, did not have standing to challenge the County's actions on her own behalf, id. at 16-18; that the fact that WVII did not bring an action against the County under the Land Use Petition Act, RCW Chapter 36.70C, was not a bar to its claims, id. at 19-20; that WVII's negligence claims are barred under the Public Duty Doctrine, id. at 20-24; that the County's actions were not a taking of WVII's property, id. at 37; and that the County had not improperly interfered with WVII's business relationships and expectancies. Id. at 24-33.

With respect to the Court of Appeals' decision on tortious interference, it ruled that WVII had shown that it had relevant business relationships or expectancies and that the County had knowledge of them. *Id.* at 24-27. However, the Court ruled that WVII had not raised a genuine issue of material fact about whether the County's actions were for an improper purpose or undertaken by improper means. *Id.* at 27-33. The Court therefore affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the claim. *Id.* at 33.

WVII requests the Supreme Court to review the Court of Appeals

decision that WVII did not raise a genuine issue of fact concerning whether the County's actions were for an improper purpose or taken by improper means.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Supreme Court should accept review of the Court of Appeals decision under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because it is in conflict with *Pleas* and *Westmark*, where similar delays in issuance of development permit approvals were held to be intentional interferences with the developers' relationships and business expectancies.

The Supreme Court should also accept review under RAP 13(b)(3) because the case involves a significant question of law under the U.S. and Washington Constitutions, concerning the vested rights doctrine.

Finally, the Supreme Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the case involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by a decision of the Supreme Court. This case provides the Court the opportunity to delineate the scope of a municipality's authority to attempt to prevent a proposed real property development, when the development meets all applicable land use criteria. The Court should accept review and establish the rule in Washington that municipalities may not, as Kitsap County did in this case, actively engage in efforts, outside of the municipality's normal land use procedures and

processes, to prevent proposed developments that comply with all municipality requirements.

The Court of Appeals ruled that WVII had not raised a genuine issue of material fact that Kitsap County had interfered for an improper purpose or by improper means. Court of Appeals decision at 33. However, WVII submitted evidence that showed that Kitsap County, by attempting to prevent the development through means not contemplated by the County land use regulations, engaged in its acts for an improper purpose. Further, WVII showed that the County interfered with WVII's expectancies and/or relationships by improper means. The trial court's dismissal of WVII's intentional interference claim should have been reversed, and the case remanded for trial on that claim.

A. The Court of Appeals did not apply the proper standards in reviewing the trial court's summary judgment order.

The Court of Appeals incorrectly ruled that WVII failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Kitsap County interfered for an improper purpose, or by improper means, with WVII's business relationships and/or expectancies.

A genuine issue of material fact exists when reasonable minds may differ regarding facts controlling the outcome of the issue presented.

Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). All facts

and inferences are to be construed in favor of the non-moving party. Michael v. Mosquera-Lacy, 165 Wn.2d 595, 601, 200 P.3d 695 (2000). In a case alleging intentional interference, "when there is room for different views, the determination of whether the interference was improper or not is ordinarily left to the [trier of fact]." Quadra Enterprises, Inc. v. R.A. Hanson Co., 35 Wn. App. 523, 527, 667 P.2d 1120 (1983) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 767, Comment I, at 38-39 (1979)); see also 6A Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 352.03 (6th Ed. 2012) (for intentional interference claim, "whether surrounding circumstances justify the conduct, and the existence of such circumstances, are questions of fact for the jury") (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 767, Comment I (1979)). And while a defendant's exercise in good faith of its own legal interests does not constitute improper interference, whether the defendant engaged in the actions in dispute in "good faith" is an issue of fact to be decided by the jury. Quadra Enterprises, Inc., 35 Wn. App. at 527; Morris v. Swedish Health Services, 148 Wn. App. 771, 777, 200 P.3d 261 (2000) (a party's good faith is normally a question of fact).

At least the following actions by the County constituted tortious interference with WVII's business expectancies and/or relationships: (1) the County's suspension of the processing of WVII's SDAP application

while it waited for the State to reply to Cris Gears' October 13, 2006 letter to Governor Gregoire concerning the proposed development (CP 321-322, 338);¹ (2) the County's pressure on KCSD not to contract with WVII for the development as the owner or operator of the LOSS (CP 835); (3) Shelley Kneip's plan to hoodwink DOH by informing it that WVII's project did not comply with County land use requirements (CP 433), and the implementation of that plan by communicating in 2007 and 2008 the County's position to DOH, even though the County had no jurisdiction or authority over whether the LOSS should be approved (CP 335-336, 340-341, 343, 346-347, 1196); (4) the County's 2009 communications to DOH after WVII requested a change in LOSS operating authority, in which the County again misrepresented that the project did not comply with local land use requirements (CP 349-352, 417-418, 473);² and (5) the County's delay of SDAP approval for the project for nineteen months, when a decision was required to be made within 78 days. The evidence showing

¹The Court of Appeals opined that the request for assistance to Governor Gregoire was "reasonable (see Court of Appeals decision at 30). However, whether the request was "reasonable" is precisely the kind of decision that is within the province of the jury. 6A Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 352.03 (6th Ed. 2012). Further, nothing prevented the County from continuing to process WVII's SDAP application pending a response from the Governor, and a jury should be permitted to determine whether the complete suspension of processing was "improper." *Id.; see also Quadra Enterprises, Inc.*, 35 Wn. App. at 527.

² In the County's communications to DOH in 2007, 2008, and 2009, it repeatedly represented that WVII's project did not comply with the GMA. However, the County knew that it did (CP 375-376), and knew that under *Woods v. Kittitas County*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25 (2007), the GMA cannot be used to challenge site specific land use decisions for alleged noncompliance. CP 407-408.

these actions raises genuine issues of material fact about whether the County's conduct was taken for an improper purpose, or by improper means. The Court of Appeals should have reversed the trial court's dismissal of WVII's interference claim.

B. By showing that Kitsap County attempted, by means outside of County land use procedures, to prevent a development that complied with all County land use requirements, WVII showed that the County interfered for an improper purpose.

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