Received Washington State Suprome Court

Ronald R. Carpenter Clerk

NO. 91886-4

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# WOODS VIEW II, LLC and DARLENE PIPER,

Appellants,

v.

KITSAP COUNTY,

•

.

Respondent,

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark R. Johnsen, WSBA #11080 Of Karr Tuttle Campbell Attorneys for Respondent Kitsap County

701 Fifth Ave., Suite 3300 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 223-1313

##

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

#### B. <u>Procedural History.</u>

.

In December 2009 Woods View and Ms. Piper filed a lawsuit against Kitsap County and several of its officials in Pierce County Superior Court. (Case No. 09-2-16487-3). The lawsuit sought recovery based on a variety of state and federal claims. Kitsap County removed the lawsuit to federal court. On June 22, 2011, U.S. District Court Judge Benjamin Settle dismissed with prejudice all of the federal claims, including claims for violation of procedural due process, substantive due process and constitutional "takings." The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed. (CP 1476). Woods View refiled a lawsuit in Pierce County Superior Court on July 18, 2011, reasserting its state law claims (negligence, tortious interference and takings) against Kitsap County. On December 12, 2012 the Honorable Susan K. Serko granted Kitsap County's motion for summary judgment, dismissing all of the remaining state law claims. (CP 1990-1991). Woods View appealed to the Washington Court of Appeals, Division II. Following briefing and argument, the Court of Appeals unanimously affirmed the dismissal of the state law claims.

In its Petition for Review, Woods View does not dispute that its negligence and takings claims were properly dismissed. The Petition for Review addresses only the dismissal of the claim for tortious interference with Woods View's contracts or business expectancy.

### IV. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

## A. <u>The County's Expressions of Concern About the Woods View</u> <u>Development Did Not Constitute Tortious Interference.</u>

Woods View alleged that Kitsap County intentionally interfered with its business expectancy. But as the trial court and the Court of Appeals determined, that theory is not available to Woods View, in view of the undisputed facts of this case.

A claim for tortious interference requires: (1) a business relationship or expectancy; (2) knowledge by the defendant of the relationship; (3) intentional interference that results in termination of the relationship; (4) an improper purpose or means; (5) resultant damages. Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau, 131 Wn.2d 133, 157, 930

•

P.2d 288 (1997). Liability will not be found unless the plaintiff shows that the defendant interfered with the relationship intentionally and for an improper purpose. <u>Commodore v. University Mechanical Contractors</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 120 Wn.2d 120, 137, 839 P.2d 314 (1992). When the defendant acts not for the purpose of interfering with the business relationship but rather interferes in an incidental manner, no liability arises. <u>Burke & Thomas</u>, <u>Inc. v. International Organization of Masters</u>, 21 Wn. App. 313, 585 P.2d 152 (1978), <u>aff'd</u>, 92 Wn.2d 762. In other words, interference must be "purposefully improper." <u>Omega Environmental</u>, Inc. v. <u>Gilbarco</u>, Inc., 127 F.3d 1157 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 525 U.S. 812.

As the trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly determined, there is no competent evidence that Kitsap County intentionally interfered with Woods View's potential relationship with the Legacy Group. Plaintiffs contend that the County's September 2009 telephone discussion with Legacy (which was initiated by Legacy, not the County) constituted tortious interference. Woods View alleges that County officials said that DOH would not approve the modified LOSS proposal and/or that further hearings might be necessary. Yet the Declaration of Legacy representative Brent Eley refutes the assertions of intentional interference. Eley testified that when asked by Legacy whether permits could be issued for a LOSS system involving individual lot ownership, the employees confirmed that DOH was the agency considering the modified LOSS proposal, and that the County did not know what DOH was going to do. Mr. Eley states that the County employees were *noncommital* as to whether Woods View's modified proposal would ultimately be approved. (CP 124). Mr. Eley's declaration expressly refutes plaintiffs' allegation that the County intentionally interfered with Legacy's relationship with Woods View'':

At the same time, we did not feel as though the County actors tried to discourage our consideration of loaning to Woods View II LLC and did not perceive the County as trying to inject itself into our business relationship with Woods View II LLC or Ms. Piper. I do not recall any County actor stating that the 78 lots would never be allowed to be sold as individually owned lots.

(CP 124-125).

•

In short, there is simply no basis for a tortious interference claim arising from Kitsap County's single conversation with the Legacy Group. It should be remembered that it was the Legacy Group which approached Kitsap County as a part of its normal due diligence process; the County did not initiate the communication. Moreover, the comments from County employees were noncommittal, rather than the definitively negative remarks alleged in the Complaint.

In any event, as the Court of Appeals correctly noted, a comment regarding the potential outcome of a pending legal matter does not constitute tortious interference. In <u>Schmerer v. Darcy</u>, 80 Wn. App. 499, 910 P.2d 498 (1996), the Washington Court of Appeals held that a statement by a party asserting his ownership of disputed property and expressing uncertainty as to what he was going to do with it, did not constitute tortious interference, as a matter of law:

The exchange of correspondence is nothing more than inquiries by an interested party in the outcome of the suit by the Darcys v. Ms. Schmerer. . . . Finally, the affidavit of the Darcys' lawyers merely references a statement by Mr. Schmerer that he believed the house was his and he had not decided what he was going to do with it. **Simply put**, **that is not interference with a contract**. Restatement 2<sup>nd</sup> Torts § 773 (exercising in good faith one's legal interest is not improper interference).

80 Wn. App. at 506. (Emphasis added).

.

The comments by Kitsap County officials were non-committal. But even if they had opined that the modified LOSS application was unlikely to be approved, that would not be actionable. As noted earlier, when one is "merely asserting an arguable interpretation of existing law," there is no tortious interference. Leingang, supra, 131 Wn.2d at 157.

Moreover, the tortious interference claim is barred by "privilege." Exercising in good faith one's own legal interests cannot constitute improper interference. <u>Id.</u>; <u>See</u>, Second Restatement of Torts § 773. A local government's exercise of its land use authority ordinarily cannot be a basis for a claim of tortious interference with a business expectancy. <u>Bakay v. Yarnes and Clallam County</u>, 431 F. Supp.2d 1103, 1113 (W.D. WA 2006); <u>Kane v. City of Bainbridge Island</u>, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 138848 (W.D. WA 2011).

As Woods View acknowledged in its Opening Brief in the Court of Appeals, Kitsap County had legitimate concerns that permitting the dense development and urban facilities proposed by Woods View could violate the GMA and the County's Comprehensive Plan. (Brief, p. 19). The County had previously been sanctioned by the Growth Board for allowing urban density in rural areas. (CP 150-151). In expressing its concerns that the GMA prohibited the kind of LOSS system proposed by Woods View, Kitsap County was protected from liability for tortious interference. The County was entitled to express its opinion as a part of exercising its own legal interest in ensuring lawful land development in the County. Communicating such a position is not tortious interference.

The Court of Appeals properly held that Kitsap County's actions did not demonstrate "improper means" or "improper purpose." As the Court correctly noted, to prove that the County interfered to further an improper purpose or by virtue of an improper means, Woods View needed to demonstrate not only that the County interfered but that it had a "duty not to interfere." Court of Appeals Opinion, p. 28; <u>Libera v. City of Port Angeles</u>, 178 Wn. App. 669, 676, 316 P.3d 1064 (2013). The Court noted that it is possible to show an improper means arising from an "extraordinary delay." But the cases in which tortious interference has been found arising from a permitting delay involved delays without justification for as long as a decade or more. (<u>Pleas v. City of Seattle</u>, 112 Wn.2d 794, 774 P.2d 1158 (1989); <u>Westmark v. City of Burien</u>, 140 Wn. App. 540, 166 P.3d 813 (2007), <u>rev. denied</u>, 163 Wn.2d 1055).

.

- 11 -

The Court of Appeals in this case held that tortious interference was not appropriate because the delay was much shorter, and because it was justified by Kitsap County's reasonable concern about violating the Growth Management Act.<sup>3</sup>

Woods View argued that the County had improperly "suspended" review of its application while it sought clarification from the Governor's office. But as the Court of Appeals properly noted, the alleged "suspension" lasted only three weeks, from October 13 to November 3, 2006. (Opinion, pp. 10-11). Moreover, the Court properly held that requesting guidance from the State of Washington regarding the applicability of the Growth Management Act did not constitute an improper means or improper purpose:

> The record demonstrates that the County did temporarily suspend the application process, but the County did so only because it anticipated guidance from the state and then Governor Gregoire regarding what the County felt was an untenable position.

Court of Appeals Opinion, p. 29.

As the Court of Appeals noted, the County was understandably hesitant to proceed with permitting the Woods View project because it believed doing so made it susceptible to liability for violating the GMA and because the County reasonably felt that the controlling statutes and regulations did not permit the type of LOSS system which Woods View

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As explained in Section C, *infra*, the "delay" in this case amounted to only a matter of months, in contrast to <u>Pleas</u> and <u>Westmark</u>, which involved delays of more than a decade.

was seeking to utilize in a rural area. Merely expressing such concerns could not rise to the level of an improper purpose or improper means:

Furthermore, the County's position that the LOSS did not comply with the GMA was accurate. The GMA endeavors to prohibit the extension of urban services to rural areas. RCW 36.70A.110(4).

Court of Appeals Opinion, pp. 30-31.

•

The Court of Appeals also noted that the County's statements could not constitute improper means because the County was "merely asserting an arguable interpretation of existing law." <u>Leingang v. Pierce</u> County Medical Bureau, Inc., supra, 131 Wn.2d at 157.

B. <u>The Tortious Interference Claim Was Also Subject to Dismissal</u> Because the County Did Not Cause the Termination of Woods View's Relationships With Karcher Creek or Legacy.

The tortious interference claim was also subject to dismissal based on the absence of competent evidence that the County's communications caused the termination of Woods View's relationships with Karcher Creek or Legacy Group. As the Court of Appeals noted, Woods View's prospective relationship with Karcher Creek was ended because Woods View decided on its own to abandon its relationship with Karcher Creek and "move forward with using a DOH approved private management entity." (CP 135; CP 139).

Similarly, there was no competent evidence that Woods View's relationship with the Legacy Group was terminated based on actions by Kitsap County. As the Court of Appeals noted, in the short telephone

conversation with Legacy, County officials did not express any opinion about whether the Woods View project would be approved. (CP 124-25). <u>See,</u> Court of Appeals Opinion, pp. 26-27. Further, Legacy had insisted from the outset that it would not finance the project unless and until DOH approval of the modified LOSS approval was assured, and building permits were in hand. (CP 1445-51). Legacy's refusal to finance was the result of Woods View's failure to timely accomplish those conditions.

One of the essential elements of a tortious interference action is proof that the defendant's statements proximately caused the termination of a business relationship. Absent this element, the tortious interference claim cannot survive. <u>Shooting Park Ass'n v. City of Sequim</u>, 158 Wn.2d 342, 352-53, 144 P.3d 276 (2006); <u>Hudson v. City of Wenatchee</u>, 94 Wn. App. 990, 998, 974 P.2d 342 (1999). The Court of Appeals properly found that there was no credible evidence that the County had caused the termination of Woods View's business relationships.

### C. The *Pleas* and *Westmark* Cases Are Easily Distinguishable.

To support its Petition for Discretionary Review, Woods View argues that the Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with two decisions where liability was found on the part of a local government based on an extraordinary delay and obstruction of a proposed development. <u>Pleas v. City of Seattle, supra; Westmark v. City of Burien,</u> <u>supra</u>. But the <u>Pleas</u> and the <u>Westmark</u> cases are easily distinguishable from the circumstances of this case, as the Court of Appeals noted. In <u>Pleas</u>, a developer applied for a demolition permit in 1973. The chair of the City's Planning Commission lobbied for neighbors to apply for a rezone that would invalidate the proposed development. The rezone was approved by the City Council but in 1975 the trial court ruled that the rezone was unlawful and void, a determination that was affirmed by this Court. In open defiance of the court order, the City continued to refuse to issue the permit for many years for political reasons, until it was finally forced to do so in 1983, some ten (10) years after the permit application was filed. 112 Wn.2d at 796-98.

Similarly, <u>Westmark Development Corp. v. City of Burien</u>, supra, is a case which is easily distinguishable. In <u>Westmark</u>, the City of Burien delayed taking action on Westmark's permit application which was pending before the city for many years, and then breached a binding settlement agreement with Westmark. It took more than six (6) years for Burien to issue a decision on Westmark's SEPA application (from 1990 to 1996). 140 Wn. App. at 543-45. Further delays followed, and the city then breached a settlement agreement with Westmark in 2004, some fourteen (14) years after the permit application was submitted. (Id. at 546). Further, the evidence showed that the extensive delays and city obstruction were undertaken to please a powerful politician who lived nearby. Id. at 545.

- 15 -

The facts in this case could hardly be more different. Whereas the <u>Pleas</u> and <u>Westmark</u> cases involved delays of more than a decade, this case at most involved a delay of months. Indeed, the suggestion by West View that there was a "19 month delay," is patently untrue. As Woods View successfully argued, because Woods View had not provided all of the necessary documentation in support of the SDAP application, the County did not have an obligation to issue its permit decision until December of 2006. <u>See</u> Court of Appeals Decision, pp. 13-14, 15-16. And it is undisputed that the County did in fact issue SEPA approval in January of 2007 (CP 313-14), and issued SDAP approval in November of that same year. In short, the suggestion of an "extraordinary delay" is refuted by the undisputed record.<sup>4</sup>

Moreover, as the Court of Appeals properly noted, the concerns expressed by Kitsap County with respect to the Woods View development were not asserted for improper "political" purposes, but rather were genuine concerns arising from the nature of the Woods View project, which proposed to construct dense urban development in the middle of a rural residential neighborhood. The record showed that the County had been sanctioned by the state in the recent past for allowing urban development in rural areas. Thus, it had a legitimate fear that approval of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Court may also take notice that Woods View's application was made during the "go-go" boom times for real estate development applications in 2006 and 2007 (prior to the great crash of 2008). It is hardly surprising that counties were having trouble keeping up with the huge volume of development applications.

the Woods View project would result in further sanctions imposed by the state. (CP 150-51).

In short, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case is not inconsistent with <u>Pleas</u> and <u>Westmark</u>. This Court should deny review.

D. <u>The Tortious Interference Claim Was Also Barred by Application</u> of the *Noerr-Pennington* Immunity Doctrine.

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